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Preface

Nine decades of my life are over, and it seems to be a good time to
reminisce about them. Where did the families of my parents come
from? What kind of a youth did I have? What were some of the high-
lights and low points of my life? My children and grandchildren prob-
ably know little about my family and my early life in Germany and what
made me come to the United States. To write this autobiography I had
to relive my life. Some of my stories are probably too self-critical, and
others are probably too flattering.

I was botn in a foteign country and lived as a young boy through
a brutal war and some chaotic postwar years. Life seemed hopeless. I
was fortunate to come to the United States after this time. With disci-
pline, honesty in admitting mistakes and misfortunes, hard work, and
luck, the Mayo Clinic gave me a chance to be successful. I owe thanks
to many of my colleagues, too numerous to mention. Special thanks
go to Professor Neumann in Germany and Drs. Kirklin, Fowler,
Theye, Hyatt, Rodarte, and Sessler at the Mayo Clinic. They helped me
in my career by encouraging and guiding my efforts.

The most important support came at home from Birbel, my wife,
and our children. Barbel supported my career and never complained
about my long working hours. It was a mutual effort. She was respon-
sible for raising four boys, and she did a wonderful job. The children
succeeded in their chosen professions, and they gave us six nice grand-
children, whose development we follow closely. Birbel deserves the

credit for it. I wish to dedicate my autobiography, with thanks, to her.







My Family

My Mother and Her Family

Early Life

My mother, Rosa Anna Bielenberg, was born on February 20, 1896, in
Norderwisch, a small farming village on the west coast of Schleswig-
Holstein, the northernmost part of Germany, bordering on Denmark.
The area has rich, fertile, marshy soil, and the farmers grew mainly
common white cabbage for sale to sauerkraut factories (some of the
heads of cabbage weighed as much as 30 to 40 pounds). My mother’s
parents owned a farm of about 130 acres. They relied on horses for
farm work, had cows for milking, and also had pigs and plenty of chick-
ens and ducks. There were four children in the family, Claus, Kithe,
my mother, and Minna. My mother had a happy childhood at the farm.

My mother as a young lady My mother in the 1960s
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She went on to attend high school in Hamburg and finished by taking

the exit examination known as the _Abitur.

My mother with our son Mark in Oldenburg, 1978
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My Mother’s Siblings
My mother’s brother, Claus, inherited the farm from his parents. He
served in France during WW I and was honorably discharged as a cap-
tain. At the beginning of WW II, he was drafted again and had to leave
his wife, Hertha, to run the farm. It was not easy for her, because most
German males were away in the army. She had to rely on the help of
French and Italian prisoners of war. Claus was killed in action in 1945.

Claus and Hertha raised two daughters. The older daughter, Ger-
trud, married 2 German refugee from the east, who had never lived or
wotked on a farm before. He
adjusted remarkably fast and
quickly modernized the farm.
Horses were replaced by trac-
tors, cows were milked by ma-

chines, and other improve-

ments were made. Unfortu-

My cousins Christel (left) and Gertrud
Bielenberg

nately, he died at a young age
of a myocardial infarction.
The younger daughter, Christel, married a farmer from Schleswig-Hol-
stein; after her marriage I lost track of her.

My mother’s older sister, Kithe, married Heinrich Gravenhorst,
who owned a factory for making sauerkraut in Marne, on the west
coast of Schleswig-Holstein. He served in WW I in the battle of Ver-
dun in France and subsequently suffered nervous exhaustion, which

interfered with how he ran his business.




KAI REHDER

We children had to be quiet when
he was around ot he would lose control
of himself. The Gravenhorsts had a
son, Konrad, and a daughter, Gesche.
Heinrich supported Hitler until Kon-
rad was killed in action as a 20-year-old
soldier in Russia. Konrad’s death
forced the Gravenhotsts to change
their plans for the future of the com-
pany. They had hoped to pass the fac-
tory on to their son, who they expected

would modernize the facilities and ex-

pand them to process other agticultural My cousin
products. Their daughter was not intet- Konrad Gravenhorst

ested in the factory, so they sold it.

. TR e

Sauerkeraut factory and home of H. C. Gravenhorst in Marne



My aunts Kdthe Gravenhorst and Hertha Bielenberg, nncle
Claus Bielenberg, my brother Hans-Joachim, and my consin
Gesche Gravenhorst

During WW II, before we were drafted, my older brother, Hans-
Joachim, and 1 spent most of our summer vacations in Marne, where
we were safe from air raids and bombs and had enough to eat. We

helped in the factory and made some money.

Heinrich and Kithe
(Bielenberg) Grav-
enhorst are the sec-
ond and third from
the right.
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Gesche attended high school in Marne and was planning an aca-
demic career. In 1943, she was drafted as a 17-year-old girl into the
Reichsarbeitsdienst (wotking service). These gitls helped farmers and
worked in factoties. Later on duting the war, the girls even manned
anti-aircraft guns. Gesche survived the war; she never married and she
took care of her parents until they both died.

Minna was the youngest of the four Bielenberg children. She did
not marty, and she took care of her eldetly mother in Matne. Minna
worked for the navy as a secretary in France during WW IL. She was
an artist who liked painting and made ceramics. She had an exhibition

of her paintings in Marne.

My Father and His Family

My Father’s Parents

My paternal grandfather, Adolf Rehder, Sr., was born in 1861 in Kiel,
the capital of Schleswig-Holstein, which lies on the Baltic Sea. At the
age of 12 he lost both parents, so he grew up as a foster child in another
family. After finishing school, my grandfather trained as an apprentice
at a fish company in Kiel. He matried Wilhelmine Doose at the age of
22. She was a girl from Schénkirchen in Schleswig-Holstein and was
only 20 years old at the time they married.

The couple stayed together and worked hatd to build a flourishing
company. Wilhelmine was a remarkable woman. She attended school
only until the age of 14, and during her last two years of schooling she
was excused during the summer so she could help her parents. In a
memoir she described how hard she had to work, particularly when
her husband was in America studying modern techniques for preparing
smoked fish. Wilhelmine not only had to take care of their business

8
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duting that time but she also mothered
seven children (from Adolf Jr., the oldest,
to my father, Max, the youngest) and
three foster children and managed her
household. Despite her very limited edu-
cation, she made sure that all of her chil-
dren went to high school so they would
be ptepared for higher education. She
continued to educate herself by reading,

and the works she read included sophis-

ticated ones by Schopenhauer and Nie-

tzsche. She gave financial support to one

My paternal grandparents

of her nieces to enable her to study phi-
lology, an act that speaks to her conviction that a solid education was
valuable.

The company for smoking fish that Adolf Rehder, St. founded in
1882 was in Ellerbek. He specialized in smoking a herring-like fish,
which was sold all over Germany and Austria as a delicacy called Kielr
Sprotten. The product earned the first prize for agricultural products
from the Austrian Kaiser Franz Joseph.

The navy became interested in Adolf’s property in Ellerbek, which
fronted directly on the Baltic Sea, as a site for expanding its shipyard
facilities. He sold the lot, and being a shrewd businessman, he appar-
ently got a good price. He used the money to buy a lot in Kiel at Ler-
chenstrasse 17, close to the main railroad station. Here he built modern
smoking facilities. His son Louis inherited the business. During the
war, some of the buildings were damaged, but they were soon rebuilt,
and Louis and his family lived there for the rest of their lives. (Kiel

9
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was, and is, a major port for the German navy. It is the site of the
Nord-Ostsee-Kanal [Kaiser Wilhelm Kanal], which was built to facili-
tate naval travel from the Baltic Sea to the North Sea.)

My Father’s Siblings

Adolf Jt. was the oldest son of Wilhelmine and Adolf Sr. He went to
school in Ellerbek and Kiel and then began his training in business as
an apprentice with his father. He started his own business in 1909 in
Plon, about 25 km from Kiel. He dealt in construction materials and
coal for heating. In 1910, Adolf Jr. married Elsa Riesenberg, who was
a very loving lady, an expert gourmet cook, and liked by everyone in
the family. Adolf Jr. volunteered in 1914 at the beginning of WW I for
the army and put Elsa in charge of their business while he was gone.
In November of 1939, when he died, Elsa was again responsible for

the business until her son, Hanning, returned in 1945 from being a

prisoner in 2 Russian war camp close to Berlin.

Adolf Rebder, Sr.,
and family. From
right to left, Adolf
Sr., Wilhelmine,
Adolf Jr., Emmy,
Bruno, Hans, 1ouis,
Ella, and Max (my
father). The photo
was taken in
Ellerbek before the
family moved to Kiel.

10



Twenty-fifth wedding anniversary of Elsa and Adolf Rehder Jr. in Plén.
Front row, from left: Kai Rebder, Gesche Gravenborst, Hand-Joachin
Rehder, Iise Rebder, Wilhelmine Rebder, Elsa (Réesenberg) Rebder, Adolf
Jr. Rebder, Adolf Sr. Rebder, Konrad Gravenhorst. Second row from left:
Grete (Graf) Rebder, Louis Rebhder, Emmy Rebder, unknown, Rosa
Anna (Bielenberg) Rehder, Max Rebder. Nexct four persons unknown.

The couple had three children: Emmy, Kithe, and Hans Johann.
The oldest, Emmy, was born in 1911. She studied philology and earned
a PhD degree in 1939. She taught mathematics, geology, and chemistry
at the gymmasium in P1on. Emmy married Dr. Wolfram Huffert in 1941;
he was also a high school teacher. They had two children, Wulf and
Kai. Wolfram served in the army at the Russian front, piloting a plane
behind the front lines for the observation and correction of the accu-
racy and precision of the German artillery. His plane was shot down,
and he did not return to Germany after the war. I am not sure what
happened to him. Rumor has it that he joined the Communist party in

Russia.

11
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Adolf Jr. and Elsa’s younger daughter, Kithe, lived with her hus-
band in Idar-Oberstein in southern Germany. I had no contact with
her and do not know whether the couple had any children.

The only son of Adolf Jt. and Elsa, Hans Johann (known as Han-
ning), was born in 1914. He was an unruly child and young man. He
did not do well at school and did not
graduate. After he left school he trained
as an apprentice in business and again
did not finish his training, I was told that
as a young man he even broke into the

offices of the Social Democtatic Party in

Kiel and hoisted the Nazi Swastika flag T
from the window. The party was My counsin Dr. Emmy Huffert
strongly opposed to Hitler. In 1934, a (e el o P
year after Hitler had become Chancel-
lor of Germany, Hanning joined a Nazi organization, but for reasons
unknown to me, he soon left Germany to join the French Foreign Le-
gion. He served with the Legion as a soldier in Africa for five years.
When he was scheduled to be discharged in January of 1940, France
and Germany were at wat, so he was kept in captivity by the French.
He escaped, returned to Germany via Spain, and was promptly drafted.
In the fall of 1941, he was transferred to Africa with a group of other
former members of the French Foreign Legion. By serving in the Ger-
man army they were given the chance to prove themselves to be patri-
ots. The ship that took them to Africa was sunk in the Mediterranean,
and Hanning swam for 16 hours before he was rescued. After recuper-
ating, he was again sent to Africa; he was wounded there in June of
1942 and hospitalized in Germany.
12
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Hanning survived the rest of the war and became a prisoner of
war in Berlin. From there he returned home by bicycle and took over
the family business from his mother. Hanning was very successful in
his business dealings. He liked to sail and won several sailboat races.
He married and had two daughters, Karin and Inga. Karin married an

orthopedic surgeon and Inga a farmer from South Africa.

With my cousin Hanning in Plon

The second child of Adolf Str. and Wilhelmine was Emmy, who
became a teacher and never married. I never met her.

The third child of Adolf St. and Wilhelmine was Bruno, who was
born in 1891 in Ellerbek. He attended the Ellerbek elementary school.
When he was 11, the family moved to Kiel, where he attended high
school. After taking the Abitur, he studied modern languages at the
universities of Kiel, Munich, and Lausanne. While in Munich, he fa-

thered an illegitimate daughter, who later matried the son of Wilhelm
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Frick, Secretary of Interior under Hitler. Wilhelm Frick was sentenced
to death at the Nuremberg Trials.

My uncle Brano

In 1914, at the beginning of WW I, Bruno volunteered for the
army. He fought in France, where he was promoted to second lieuten-
ant. In 1916, Bruno was transferred to the Russian front, where he was
captured by the Russians and sent to a Siberian labor camp as a pris-
oner of war. At the end of the war, he was not teleased. In 1920, after
another quixotic year in captivity, he was released and returned home
sick and exhausted. He matriculated at the University of Kiel, whete
he studied economics and graduated with a doctorate in 1922. In the
turmoil of postwar Germany, Bruno saw no chance for himself, and
he emigrated to China in 1923. He settled in Tientsin and founded a
shipping company. Tientsin was considered to be the Northern Shang-
hai. It had many European concessions, including a German one. (Af-
ter China lost the opium wars in 1860, the British and French, and later
other Furopean countries, established concessions in Chinese cities,

14
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which were entities that had their own administrations, jurisdictions,
and infrastructures.)

Bruno married Ludmila Karlowna Snarsky in 1933. She was born
in 1909 to her Russian mother and Polish father, who worked in Russia
for the Trans-Siberian Railway. '
When Ludmila was five yeats
old, the family moved to Tien-
tsin. Ludmila attended the Eng-
lish Tientsin Grammar School
(which had the Cambridge ex-
amination) and learned the
King’s English, so she grew up
bilingual, speaking Russian as
her mother tongue and English
as her second language. Lud-
mila was also the tennis cham-
pion of North China. She was a
vety kind-hearted, sophisti-

cated, and religious lady, liked
by everybody. While Ludmila

lived in China, before and after marriage to Bruno, she became used

My aunt Laudmila

to luxury and having plenty of help in her household, but this came to
an end after the war when she and Bruno lived in Germany.

Bruno and Ludmila had two children, a gitl named Wilhelmine
after her grandmother (but always called Wiki) and a boy named Ru-
dolf (Rudi). In 1940 after the outbreak of WW II, Bruno bought a
cabin near Tientsin to serve as a summer home. As business declined
during the war, Bruno and his family moved from Tientsin to their

15
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cabin, and they continued to live there until 1947, when they were ex-

patriated and sent to Germany.

My cousin Wilbelmine (Wiki) Mo /ller (neé Rebder)

In Germany, they lived for two months at a refugee camp in
southern Germany and after being released from the camp, they
moved to Kiel, Bruno’s hometown. Kiel, an important port of the Ger-
man navy, had suffered severely during the war from heavy bombings.
About 70% of the buildings were destroyed, and it was therefore nearly
impossible to find shelter for a family of four. To make things even
more difficult, thousands of refugees from the former region of east
Germany had atrived in Kiel and were competing for the few available
living spaces. After two months, the family finally found a single room
to rent. It served as a bedroom and living room. They shared a toilet,
kitchen, and bathroom with others. From these cramped quarters,

Bruno managed to build his new business of import and export. His

16
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fluency in Russian, French, English, and German helped him in land-
ing contracts, because all business contracts had to be filled out in fout
languages. After only six months, the family moved to a better apart-
ment in Kiel. Bruno soon owned a car and hired a chauffeur. He
proved when the going gets tough, the tough get going. While I was a
medical student in Kiel, I lived with the family for a while and had a
wonderful time. They were kind and very interesting people.

Wiki went to school in Plén, where she graduated with the Abitur.
She married a pastor, Dr. Dieter Mbller, who is an interesting and so-
phisticated man. He wrote the history of the Bruno Rehder family.
Wiki and Dieter have four children. Like her mother, Wiki speaks flu-
ent Russian, and also like her mothet, she is a kind-hearted lady. Her
younger brother Rudi trained in the German merchant navy to become
a captain. He was thrown overboard in the Mediterranean during a
severe storm and could not be rescued.

Hans was the fourth child of Adolf Sr. and Wilhelmine Rehder.
All T know about him is that he trained as a business apprentice before
he volunteered for the army at the beginning of WW I in August of
1914. He was killed in action in France in 1915.

Louis was the fifth child of Adolf Sr. and Wilhelmine. He inhet-
ited the family company and carried on successfully during the difficult
time of the war and the heavy bombings of Kiel. Louis married Grete
Graf, the daughter of an artisan, and they had one child, Ilse. I liked
my cousin Ilse very much. While I was a medical student in Kiel be-
tween 1948 and 1950, I spent many evenings with Louis and his family.
We had dinner together and played cards. Ilse was an intelligent lady,

interested in many things. She studied pharmacy and married Helms

17
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Huesgen in 1950. Helms saw the great opportunities for the automo-
tive industry in Germany after the war. Everybody needed a car. With
his cousin, he built a successful dealership for Volkswagens, Porsches,
and Audis in Kiel and established many subsidiaries throughout
Schleswig-Holstein. Helms and Ilse’s two sons, Jochen and Axel, con-
tinue to run the business in Kiel.

Ella, the sixth Rehder child, was chronically sick with a thyroid
problem. She never married and stayed with her parents. 1 never met
her. The two unmarried sisters, Ella and Emmy, had little contact with
most of the family.

The youngest Rehder child was my father, Max, born on March
25, 1896, in Ellerbek. He attended the gymnasinm in Kiel. It must have
been a tough school with a lot of discipline. I remember my fathet’s
interest in Latin and Greek; he could translate Latin books into Ger-
man. Like his brothers, my father volunteered for the army in WW I
and fought in France. After an honorable discharge at the end of the
war, he studied dentistry at the universities of IKiel and Munich. After
one year as an assistant, he began his own dentistry practice in Hohen-
westedt, Schleswig-Holstein, in 1923, Germany was in turmoil during
this postwar time, and terrible economic inflation made life miserable.

Many people in Germany, including my father, felt the Treaty of
Versailles that ended the war was unfair and the expected reparations
were too high, preventing the country from having a chance to recu-
perate in the presence of an extremely high rate of unemployment. In-
tlation was rampant. It was not an easy time to start a dental practice.
In 1929, he joined the Nazi Party (NSDAP) in the hope that Hitler

would turn things around in Germany.

18
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After the war, my father made amends for his membership in the
NSDAP, even though he never participated in any Nazi activities. His
bank accounts were frozen; a trustee was assigned to control his busi-
ness and financial activities; and he was not allowed to vote in the first
free elections after the war. Eventually, it was realized that membership

alone did not equate with any wrongdoings, and things became easier.

My Parents’ Marriage and Children

My mother and father, Rosa Anna and Max Rehder, married after
World War 1. They had met in Marne when my father was working
there as an assistant. My parents did not have an easy life. One of their
sons was killed; my father served for ten years of his life in German
armies; and they twice lost their savings. My father was a dentist and
practiced in Hohenwestedt where my brother and I were born—Hans-
Joachim on December 8, 1924, and 1 on December 17, 1928. My par-
ents owned a home but, nonetheless, life was not easy or comfortable
for them because in 1923, a devastating economic inflation hit Ger-
many. Most of what my father earned was eaten up before he had a
chance to spend it. My mother told me that she had to run to the gro-
cery store because if she walked, her money would lose most of its
buying power in the few extra minutes it would take before she reached
the store. The inflation was so horrendous that postage for a normal
letter was as high as 5 billion marks!

When Germany invaded Poland and started Wotld War II in Sep-
tember of 1939, my father was drafted immediately. The new Mercedes
convertible my parents had bought was confiscated, and our dog, an
Airedale terrier, was drafted but fortunately rejected because of a heart

murmur. In 1942, Hans-Joachim was drafted, first into the
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Reichsarbeitsdienst, a paramilitary organization, and then into the Webr
macht. 1 was drafted on January 5, 1944, as a Lufiwaffenbelfer. After 1 had
left the house, my mother was alone. The authorities

made her serve as a nurse at the railroad station in
Oldenburg until the end of the war. My father re-

turned from the war soon after it ended, but we did

not know what had happened to my brother. Fi- p . e stamp
nally, in 1947, 2Y2 years after the end of WW I, my  from 1923
parents learned that their oldest son had been killed

under mysterious circumstances. In 1948, my parents lost most of their
savings once more because of the Wihrungsreform, in which the cur-
rency was devaluated.

My mother made the best of her difficult circumstances. She en-
rolled in a course to learn gourmet cooking, needlework, and other
skills for advanced housework. She graduated with a Master’s degree
and was licensed to teach. She taught five gitls who came for a day
each week to our house, where they worked under the supervision of
my mother. This continued even after the war.

The worst time for my mother was while the family was waiting
for news of Hans-Joachim. There was still some hope that he might
return; we knew that other, more fortunate families had received news
through the Red Cross about relatives who had been held in Russia as
ptisoners of war. My parents’ marriage had deteriorated during the six
years that they were apart while my father served in the army. They did
not divorce or separate, but they no longer had a true marriage. To
make things worse for my mother, I emigrated to the United States in
1966. My father had died in 1958, so she was then alone. She remained
in Oldenburg but moved from the rented house in Osterstrasse, where
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we had lived for about 20 years, to a house she owned in the Griine

Strasse.

With my mother in Oldenbug at Christmas

My mother died in 1982. Birbel and I attended the funeral in Ol-
denburg. Only a few relatives and friends were present at the service.
She is buried with her husband in the Rehder family grave in the Ger-
trudenfriedhof in Oldenburg. The tombstone carries the names of my
father, mother, and brother, even though my brother is not buried
there. Birbel and I want to be cremated and buried in the Rehder fam-

ily grave, as well.

My Brother, Hans-Joachim

My brother, Hans-Joachim, went to elementary school for three years
in Hohenwestedt. Because there was no high school in Hohenwestedt,
the family moved to Oldenburg in 1934. In Oldenburg my brother
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attended the last grade of elementary school and then the gymnasinm.

in 1942 into the Reichsarbeitsdienst, a |
paramilitaty ~ organization, and
served in it for three months in
Zwischenahn together with his
classmate Otto Modick. The men of
the Reichsarbeistdienst provided cheap
labor for heavy work. The first Ax-
tobabns in Germany were built in
large part by men of the
Reichsarbeitsdienst. 1t also setved as
preparation for the army.

Otto Modick led an unusual

My brother Hans-Joachim at ele-
mentary school in Oldenburg

life. After being released from the
Reichsarbeitsdienst he was drafted into
the navy, where he setrved on a U-
boat. His U-boat was sunk close to the British coast. His mother was
informed by the navy that her son had been killed, but she knew better.
She had been listening on the radio to a British news program from
which she learned that a German U-boat had been sunk, and that
members of the crew, including Otto Modick from Oldenburg, were
alive and well. Imagine the dilemma of Mrs. Modick. It was strictly
forbidden to listen to foreign radio stations. If caught doing so, one
could be sentenced to death, so Mrs, Modick had to pretend for the
rest of the war that she believed her son was dead even though she

knew he was well and alive,
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After the war, Otto returned to Oldenburg, where he became in-
volved in the black market and soon became its king. While in the
United Kingdom as a prisoner of war he had learned to speak English
more or less fluently. He used this in what must be considered a mas-
terpiece of imposture. He told a British colonel of the occupation force
that he wanted to impress his gitlfriend by wearing the uniform of a
British officer on their next date. In return for use of the uniform for
one evening, he offered the colonel an oil painting. The colonel agreed
and the deal was made. Wearing the British colonel’s uniform, Otto
stopped a British army jeep and ordered the driver to take him to the
army watehouse. There he loaded the jeep with cigarettes and other
goods for the black market. He sold the stolen goods for a good profit
that more than compensated for the value of the painting he had given
up. The next morning, he returned the uniform as promised.

Fventually, he overdid it and ran into trouble with the German
police. He escaped to France, whete he joined the French Foreign Le-
gion. With the Legion he was sent to Vietnam, where he was captuted
and confined in a prisoner-of-war camp. He could not resist tempta-
tion and again began to deal in the black market while in the camp; he
got caught and was executed.

My brother was teleased after three months in the Arbeitsdienst and
was drafted into the army as a gunner in a Panger tank. In 1942, he was
sent to Russia, where he was involved in heavy fighting until he was
wounded in June of 1944. His Panger was hit and exploded, and the
force of the explosion threw him out of the tank into a ditch, where
he was discovered unconscious with third-degree burns on his face and
both hands. His comrades thought he was dead. They took his identi-
fication and valuables, but somebody noticed that he was moving. He
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was rescued and flown to Breslau and admitted to a military hospital.
My mother and I visited him in Breslau in 1944.

I was on furlough as a Luftwaffenbelfer at the time and had to wear
a uniform. One day, when my brother and 1 were walking downtown,
we encountered a high-ranking SS officer. We were supposed to salute
him with the Nazi salute. After the futile attempt to assassinate Hitler
in 1944, the army salute was changed from the normal salute used in
every army in the world to the raising of the right arm. To avoid the
Nazi salute, we both turned around and pretended not to have seen
him. Sure enough, he stopped us and asked why we had not saluted
him. My brother, with his butned face, looked at him and said,” Sir,
you go where 1 have been and I will salute you.” The officer turned
around, obviously embatrassed, and left without a word.

My brother was declared, by some truly irresponsible person, to
be fit enough to be sent back to the Russian front, even though he was
then useless as a soldier. The skin of both hands was so sensitive that
he could not hold a gun or carty anything. After the extent of his dis-
abilities became obvious, he was reassigned and attended an officer
school as a cadet in Czechoslovakia. As the Red Army advanced rap-
idly and approached the town where the officer school was located,
the cadets were evacuated and charged with protecting flecing German
civilians against partisans.

When the war was finally over, we did not receive any news from
him. This was a terrible time for all of us. There was hope that he might
be alive, and we hoped that we might reccive news of him through the
Red Cross. After 22 years, a man from the vicinity of Frankfurt-am-
Main called and asked my father if he had a son who was missing,
When my father said that he did, the man asked whether his son was a
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medical student who had been badly wounded. After my father an-
swered that this too was the case, the man informed him that he had
bad news. His son was dead. He said that he had been the officer in
charge of a group of soldiers and civilians who were fleeing from the
advancing Red Army in Czechoslovakia. While they were staying over-
night at a farm, three German soldiers, including my brother, were shot
by partisans wearing German uniforms. He said this had happened on
April 22, 1945.

My father was shocked by the sad news and asked if he and his
family could visit him to learn more about exactly what happened on
that day. The man agreed to this. He was living on a farm and serving
as a private teacher for the farmer’s children. My father, mother, and I
traveled on a freight train to visit him the next day. He appeared to be
a friendly man and answered most of our questions. He told us that
the group of fleeing soldiers and civilians had arrived in Germany the
next day and surrendered to the Americans.

Strangely enough, the man disappeared from West Germany into
East Germany soon after our visit, and it was impossible for us to get
in touch with him again. We contacted the farmer with whom he had
been living, but he did not know the man’s new address and had not
heard from him. This makes one wonder whether his story was true.
Was my brother shot by partisans wearing German uniforms or was
he executed? Did the former officer feel guilty enough to notify us
about my brother’s death but then disappear so that he could not be
held accountable? We don’t know the answers. We don’t know
whether my brother was buried and if so, where. What a tragic death
for a 21-year-old boy.
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My brother, Hans-Joachim, in the My brother after he was wounded
uniform of a German Panzer sol- in Russia in 1944
dier
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Hohenwestedt, 1928-1934

In 1923 my father began his dental practice in Hohenwestedt, a small
town in Schleswig-Holstein near Rendsburg. He did well in his practice
before he and the family moved to Oldenburg. At age six, my brother
entered the first grade in the elementary school in Hohenwestedt. The
school building was right
across from our house, so
it was very convenient for
him. When a child was
age ten, the parents had
to decide about the
child’s further education.

One choice was to have

the child continue at a0 py./ otize of my father in 1934, almost 100
elementary school until  years ago

age 14 and then start an

apprenticeship accompanied by appropriate schooling. The other
choice was high school, which prepared the child for more intellectu-
ally demanding jobs. One type of high school was the gymnasium, which
emphasized the study of languages and prepared a child for matricu-
lating at a university. At such a school, children began at age ten with
Latin, at 13 Greek was added, at age 15 French, and at age 16 English.
The other type of high school, the Realschule, emphasized natural sci-
ences and mathematics. Here the children started at age ten with Eng-

lish and added Latin at age 13 and French at age 15.
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My parents wanted their chil-
dren to attend a gymnasium, as my |
father had done. The nearest gy- =
nasinm to Hohenwestedt was in
Rendsburg, which meant that their
children would have to travel by |
train to go to school. Our parents |
did not want this for us. Their |

friend Andreas Hamann, the son

of the local pastor, had moved

from Hohenwestedt to Olden-

My father and Adolf Hitler in 1929
in Hohenwestedt

burg, where he worked as an attor-
ney. He recommended the life in
Oldenburg, a city of 80,000, with
good schools and a theater and without heavy industry. My parents
followed his advice and moved to Oldenburg in 1934.

At that time, Germany was still in the midst of the turmoil that
followed WW 1, which had concluded with the terms of the Versailles
Peace Treaty; the country had a high unemployment rate. Hitler prom-
ised he had plans to overcome these problems. Many, including my
father, trusted him. My father had joined the Nazi party four years be-
fore Hitler became chancellor. In 1929, Hitler was on a campaign trip
through Schleswig-Holstein and stopped in Hohenwestedt. My father,
who acted as mayor of the city, accompanied him on a walk through
the town. In retrospect, he should have understood that Hitler was
dangerous and a demagogue. After this time my father finally under-
stood Hitlet’s plans and hated him.
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There were many honorable men in Germany who, like my father,
trusted Hitler before they realized for what he stood. For instance, the
well-known Pastor Niemoller pledged eternal service to Hitler in 1933
after Hitler had become chancellor but was later the leading figure in
the Protestant Church protesting publicly against Hitler. He ended up
in a concentration camp for seven years.

Another example is Count Claus von Stauffenberg, who first sup-
ported Hitler. After he had seen the ctimes committed by Germans in
Russia during the war, he joined the Resistance against Hitler and tried
unsuccessfully to assassinate Hitler on July 20, 1944. He and a number
of high-ranking officers were captured and executed. His wife was im-

prisoned in a concentration camp.
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School Years, 1934-1948

Oldenburg, 1934—-1944

The city of Oldenburg was also the capital of the State of Oldenburg
and was officially called Oldenburg in Oldenburg. Until 1919 the grand
duke of Oldenburg lived in his palace in the city, and his beautiful gar-
dens were open to the public and were a big attraction for people. The
government of the State of Oldenburg had its offices and buildings in
the city. As the capital, Oldenburg had an outstanding live theater, sev-
eral high schools, including a good gymnasium, and many legal courts
and attorneys.

The landmark of the city was the Lappan, the belfry of a church,
which no longet exists. Oldenburg has many proud traditions, includ-
ing the Kramermarkt, a national festival started by the legendary Count
Adolf Guenther von Oldenburg in the sixteenth century. It is a popular
festival lasting one week. People jokingly say there are five seasons in
Oldenburg, spring, summer, fall, winter, and Kramemmarkt. Another
great tradition of Oldenburg is the Grinkohl mit Pinkel Fssen, a meal of
kale and tasty, seasoned Warst.

In 1934, my brother entered the first year of the gymnasium in Ol-
denburg. He excelled in biology and chemistry. He had a chemistry
laboratory in the basement of our house, where he did experiments. 1
was allowed to watch him and got interested in chemistry that year.

In August of 1934, President Hindenburg died. In his honor, 2
National Funeral was ordered. This involved festivities in many cities
throughout Germany, including Oldenburg, where Hindenburg had

served as an army officer. The army held a gun salute in our city. When
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my friends and I walked through the city the next day, we found a
leftover cartridge with an intact percussion cap. We took it home to
see if we could make the cap go off by
hitting it with a sharp nail. It went off all
tight, and a fragment from the explosion
hit me in the right groin.

I was hospitalized because I bled
profusely. The sharp-edged fragment of
the cartridge was lodged in the wall of my
right femoral artery, and the surgeon,
Professor Koenecke, decided against re-
moving it for fear of damaging the artery

further and causing uncontrollable bleed-

ing. It must be remembered that in 1934
surgeons had no experience in vascular Me in Oldenburg
surgery and there were no blood banks
available. The surgeon applied a cast around my pelvis, including the
right leg, making any motion of the leg impossible. The hope was to
prevent further damage to the artery and give the fragment time to
move away from the artery by the force of gravity. This did happen,
and the fragment was subsequently removed without any problem.
Oldenburg had survived most wars neatly untouched. Even dur-
ing WW II it was spared from bombing, and in May of 1945, the acting
mayor of the city, who was the father of one of my classmates, coura-
geously surrendered the city to the Allies, saving it from total destruc-
tion. For this brave deed, the military government appointed him
mayor. He remained in this position until it was found out that he had
been a member of the Nazi party. The father of another classmate was
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appointed governor of the State of Oldenburg by the military govern-

ment.

My brother, Hans-Joachim, and me in traditional nayy dress

Because my father had joined the Nazi party in 1929, he was com-
pelled to join either the SA or SS. He chose the SS, the organization
that academicians seemed to prefer; by contrast, the SA was the party
of the working class. When he realized the criminality of Hitler’s poli-
cies, however, he resigned from the SS after being in it for less than
one yeat, a risky maneuver. He turned from a supporter of Hitler to a
fierce opponent. I remember when friends visited, we kids were asked
to leave the room so we would not hear what was said and discussed
about Hitler and his policies. My parents feared that we might inad-
vertently tell our friends what we had heard, and this would have been
dangerous.

My father was interested in sports. He enjoyed a good tennis game

twice a week. He even played one set of tennis against Gottfried von
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Cramm, the famous German tennis star, who won the French Open
twice and made it to the finals in the U.S. Open, Australian Open, and
Wimbledon Championships. Being the gentleman that he was, von
Cramm let my father win one game. My father was also a great soccer
fan. He flew once to England to watch a soccer game between the
national teams of Germany and England. On the return to Heathrow
Airport he was asked by the cab driver, “Why does Germany want
war?” My father was impressed that a cab driver in England was better
informed than most Germans and understood the dangers of Hitlet’s

policy.

My father, farthest to the right

My father was drafted into the army a few days before Germany
invaded Poland in late August 1939. He was given the rank of corporal
in the infantry, a rank he held at the end of WW I. The medical corps

of the German army did not include dentistry as a specialty, so there
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was no place for him in the army. He asked to be transferred to the air
force medical corps, which included dentistry. He was transferred and
setved the entire war as an air
force dentist at a military hospi-
tal in Amsterdam. In 1945, he
surrendered to the Americans.
He was released in June of 1945
and returned home by bicycle,
the only means of transportation F
available at that time. |

1 remember when my father

came home. We had not seen

each other for four years, and 1
was now 16 years old and had My father

been in the war as a Lufiwaf-

fenhelfer. He said,” Son, I am afraid you will have a difficult life ahead
of you. You will never have enough food to eat; you will never own a
home; and the wortld will hate the Germans forever and will never for-
give us for what was done by us or in our name.” This gloomy predic-
tion may have been influenced in part by his experiences after WW L.
What could Germany reasonably expect after WW II? There is no
question that Germany started WW II, and that Germans had killed
millions of innocent people in concentration camps and committed
crimes in occupied countries and at home. It was certainly not an en-
couraging prospect for a young boy.

My father died in June of 1958 at the age of 62 from a myocardial
infarction while on vacation in Italy. He had been in good health up to
then. When my mother notified me in Rochester about his death, I did

35




KAI REHDER

not have the money to buy a round-trip ticket to Germany. The Mayo
Clinic generously lent me the money, which I paid back immediately

after my return from Germany.
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My first report card in 1934 reads, “Kai is very sweet and
hard-working and most of the time tidy.”

I entered elementary school in Oldenburg at the age of six. I sat
for the entrance examination for the gymmasium in 1938 after three
years instead of the normal four years of elementary school. By order
of Hitler no new classes were accepted at gymnasiums; he did not like
elite education. There was no choice for me but to go to the Realschute,
with an empbhasis on the natural sciences and mathematics. Luckily,
however, those of us who had taken the entrance examination for the
gymnasium had the benefit of remaining in its building and being taught
by highly qualified teachers. I was the youngest student of the class; 1
was not ready for the rigorous curriculum and had to repeat the fifth
grade. In the first year there were 60 students in our grade, but by the
time we took the final examination at age 18 or 19, only 16 students

were left.
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As a young boy I wanted to have a dog. My parents agreed, but
we could not decide between a Scottish tetrier and an Airedale tetrier.
We finally decided on an Airedale, and in 1938, we bought Abo in
Hamburg. He was a
young Airedale with a
long family tree. Abo
soon became the center
of the family. He grew
rapidly and became

strong and handsome.

He loved to play with
other dogs in the
neighborhood but had

one arch enemy, Ajax, a German sheepdog with yellowish brown fur.

With my first dog, Abo

They hated each other, and whenever they met they had a big fight.
One day my father wanted to demonstrate the enmity between two
dogs to visiting friends by shouting at Ajax. Abo responded by jump-
ing through the window glass on the first floor into the street, but he
could not find Ajax. On another day my mother went to an art shop
with Abo to buy something. There was a framed picture of Adolf
Hitler in 2 brown shirt exhibited on the floor. As soon as Abo saw
the picture he attacked it and ripped it to pieces, thinking it was Ajax
because the color in the picture was similar to Ajax’s fur. At the be-
ginning of the war, Abo was drafted, but he was rejected because of
a heart murmur. Unfortunately, we had to put him to sleep during the
war because we did not have enough food for him.
At age ten, all boys were required to join the Nazi organization
Deutsches Jungvolke (DJ; Young German People). We wore brown shirts
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decorated with the swastika and black shorts. Fvery Wednesday and
Saturday afternoon we met for two to four hours. The emphasis was
on sportts, marching, and political indoctrination.

I like sports but I was not interested in marching and politics, and
I found the meetings boring. After four years in the D], I was auto-
matically transferred to the Hitler Jugend (HJ). I did not like the activ-
ities there either and attended few of the meetings. I had to report to
the office of the senior leader, who asked me, “Do you not like the
meetings?” 1 answered, “No,” and much to my delight, I was immedi-
ately dishonorably discharged. I wonder what would have happened to
me if Germany had won the war?

I had three good friends. We lived in the same neighborhood.
Walter Mittweg and I went to school together; he studied law and be-
came a state prosecutor. Wolfgang Decker studied physics and later
worked at the Max Planck Institute in Stuttgart. The third friend was
Burkhard Decker, Wolfgang’s brother, who entered a cloister and stud-
ied theology. He died at a young age of breast cancer with many me-
tastases. Wolfgang and Walter remained my friends until they died
many, many years later. After we had all retired and I spent time in
Germany, we met once a week and drank French wine or German beer

together.

Luftwaffenhelfer, 1944-1945

On January 5, 1944, all of my classmates who had been born in 1928
were drafted as Laftwaffenbelfer (air force helpers). 1 had just turned 15
three weeks earlier. After training in Oldenburg for six weeks on out-

dated 2-cm Flak guns, we were stationed in Norddeich on the coast of
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the North Sea. We were protecting a radio station that was the com-
munication link with U-boats in the Atlantic.

One would have thought that this site would be a major target of
the Allies, but it was never attacked. We later learned why not. The
British had broken the sectet
code and were not interested in
losing this valuable soutce of in-
fotmation.

After a few uneventful
weeks in Norddeich, we were
transferred to an airport in
Zwischenahn, where the air
force was testing the experi-
mental Me-163 rocket plane.
The Me-163 was very small,
light, and fast. It was propelled

by one rocket engine in the rear

and could ascend vertically like a

Luftwaffenhelfer

rocket; shortly after takeoff it
dropped off its wheels. Hanna Reitsch, a friend of Hitler, was one of
the test pilots. The Me-163 was thought to be ideal for hunting recon-
naissance planes, but it carried only a small amount of fuel so it had
only a few minutes of powered flight before it turned into a lame glider
and an easy target. During the year we were stationed at the airport, we
saw successful test flights almost daily, but we never saw a successful
ascent to hunt a reconnaissance plane.

The other major activity at the airport was the flights of He-111
bombers, which were loaded with one V-1 rocket each to be launched
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over the North Sea. When an He-111 bomber returned from a mission,
we were awaiting it with searchlights and guns on its approach to the
landing strip. We used the searchlight to look for enemy planes that
might be behind the He-111 and teady to land to drop off spies and
then take off.

The airport was, of course, of great interest to the Allies. We were
heavily bombed several times, and several of our colleagues were
wounded or died, including Franz Koenecke, the son of the surgeon
who had operated on me. We were completely defenseless because the
bombers flew at an altitude far beyond the range of our 2-cm quadru-
plet guns, which was only about 3,000 feet. However, low-flying fighter
planes followed the bombings and they were certainly in our range.
They attacked parked aitplanes, such as the Me-163s and He-111s.
These kept us busy and we were sometimes successful.

On a normal day we had four hours of schooling in the morning.
A teacher from our school in Oldenburg came every day. We had no
homework. In the afternoon we were soldiers, exercising, cleaning
guns, and doing other military-type activities. There was no arguing
among us, and we were too young to have political opinions. Our be-
liefs were mostly those of our parents and the church. Most of us ex-
pected Germany to lose the war, and we did not hesitate to say so. 1
could mention many examples. One night, as we were waiting at our
guns for the Allied bombers to return from bombing Berlin, Lieuten-
ant Wolf came to me and asked, “Why did you not volunteer for the
army? If you volunteer, you can choose between army, navy, and air
force. Don’t you want to become an officer?” and my answer was “No,
sir, I want to be a corporal like our Fiihrer.” He did not respond and
never bothered me again.
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Bombed ont at the airport

The quadruplet 2-cm guns were manned by seven people, includ-
ing German soldiers too old for combat duty, Russian prisoners of war
who had volunteered to serve in the Flak, and us Laflwaffenbelfer. We
had good relations with the soldiers and the Russians. The soldiers
treated us kindly; probably some of them felt we could be their children
or grandchildren. The Russian POWSs were just happy to still be alive.
They were well nourished and treated fairly. I wonder whatever hap-
pened to them after being sent back to Russia by the Allies. I wonder
how many did not even survive their return?

The officer in charge of the 15 2-cm quadruplet guns, Ober-
lieutenant Ritter, was an educated gentleman and a teacher at a gymna-
sium. He maintained discipline but understood we were not adults. He
also understood that the war would come to an end soon, and that

more unwise sacrifices were unwarranted.
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In March of 1945, he ordered us to get civilian clothes. He said he
was to discharge us so that we could register for the regular army. He
waited until the middle of Aptil 1945, three weeks before the end of
the war. He then collected our uniforms and sent us home together
with our official discharge papers. Most of us did not report to the
recruiting office of the atmy and waited anxiously for the Allies to ar-
rive. On May 3, 1945, Oldenburg surrendered and was occupied by
Canadian and British troops. We were liberated and safe. The brutal

war was ovet, there would be no more killings, and we had sutvived!

Oldenburg, 1945-1948

At the end of the war Germany capitulated unconditionally, meaning
that we were totally at the mercy of the occupying forces. We had no
rights, and no German administration existed. There was a curfew, so
we were not allowed on the streets after 9:00 PM. The occupying sol-
diers were not even allowed to talk to us Germans. No fraternization!
That was humiliating. We also were confronted with news about the
crimes, brutalities, and atrocities committed by Germans or in the
name of Germans.

The militaty government was responsible for everything, includ-
ing the police, post office, newspaper, electricity, and gas utilities. It
was also responsible for providing food and shelter for locals and thou-
sands of refugees who were being evacuated from eastern Germany by
Poland. The city was crowded with hungry, exhausted people. The mil-
itary government was not prepared for this task. The food supply was
inadequate and hunger was a great problem. Shelter for the many ref-
ugees and former POWSs was not available. To make things worse, the

occupation force confiscated the best and most intact homes. We had
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no fuel for heat; in the winter of 1945-1946 it was below freezing in
my bedroom. Electricity and gas for preparing meals were available for
only two or three hours per day.

The Nuremberg Trials were held and even more unbelievable
atrocities and crimes came to light. What my father had prophesied on
his return from the war seemed to be coming true. We had survived
the war, but the immediate postwar period was depressing and chaotic;
there was no hope for the future. Bartering and black-market activities
were the only way to supplement the scarce food supply and to sutvive.
Cameras, wristwatches, paintings, and other valuables were exchanged
for food with the soldiers of the occupation force.

My father needed to reopen his dental practice. His equipment
had not been used for six years while he was away in the army, and
some of it had deteriorated and was no longer in working condition.
He had no dental plaster for making impressions of the mouth, which
was necessaty for preparing dentures. Most of the day there was no
electricity, meaning he had to work without adequate light and had to
use an old dental drill powered by foot.

I volunteered to help and got permission from the military gov-
ernment to travel about 200 miles to Osterode in the Harz Mountains
to buy 100 pounds of dental plaster and transport it back by bike to
Oldenburg. The trip was successful. I do not remember how I fed my-
self or where I slept at night.

Before schools were reopened, the military government forced us
to work to be eligible for rationing cards for food. I worked in a factory
owned by the father of a classmate who owned a patent for making

clutches for electric motors.
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In the fall of 1945 schools were reopened. The gymnasium was oc-
cupied by the Canadians and used as a military hospital, so we went to
a girls’ high school in the afternoons. The school was not heated, and
some of its windows were broken. No electricity, books, ot paper was
available. However, and importantly, we were taught by competent
teachers and were happy to learn. A welcome bonus was the Hoover
hot meal we received, a gift from the United States. In retrospect, it
was wise to open schools so soon even under such difficult conditions,
though we may not have appreciated it at that time. Educating and
training the next generation was the only chance for a countty to sur-
vive and thrive, and it helped us later.

We had many good teachers, but three of them were outstanding.
Dr. Wilhelm had been a German diplomat in the United Kingdom be-
fore the war and was married to an English lady. He taught German
and English. He had friends among high-ranking British officers of the
occupying force, and he invited them to teach us about the English
political democratic system. For us, who had grown up in Nazi Ger-
many, this was most informative and interesting. Of course, the dis-
cussions were held in English and we learned to communicate in Eng-
lish. What a teacher to do this in his spare time on Saturday mornings!

Another outstanding teacher was the Latin teacher, Dr. Eggerk-
ing. He thought our expetience of serving in the war as 15-year-old
boys was unique. He persuaded us to document our experiences as
Lnftwaffenbelfer. Each of us wrote a chapter in the Lauftwaffenbelferchronik,
and I still have a copy of the book.

Adolf Niesmann, out art teacher, was the third outstanding
teacher. He served as president of the Art Society in Oldenburg during

the postwar time. In this capacity he miraculously managed to get the
et
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famous original Sunflower painting by Vincent van Gogh exhibited in
the city. He took us to the exhibition and explained enthusiastically the
art of van Gogh and other impressionists. Thanks to this experience, I
became interested in impressionist att.

Niesmann had designed his house in Oldenbutg in the modern
Bauhaus style and it became an attraction. After my retirement, Béirbel
and I purchased this house from his daughter, who lives in the United
States. We also bought 14 paintings by Niesmann, which decorate our
house in Rochester. We still enjoy them every day.

My classmates and I attended school until March of 1948, when
we were eligible to take the final examination, the 1//##r. In December
of 1947, we were scheduled for a final test in German to determine our
grade entering the Abitur. 1 was afraid 1 might worsen my grade. I told
my father that 1 did not want to take the test because I was sick. He
understood and agreed. He suggested we use the free day to ask the
chairman of the department of dentistry at the University of Kiel to
help me matriculate there; my father knew him well.

My father offered the department chairman a weekly supply of
fresh fish of his choice from my uncle’s shop if he would help me in
getting accepted at the university. Food was so scarce that a guaranteed
weekly supply of fresh fish was enough to serve as a bribe in this situ-
ation. Veterans and people persecuted by the Nazis had rightful prior-
ities for acceptance at universities, and it appeared that it would be
nearly impossible for me to get accepted at my age without help. I am
not sure how much the bribe helped, because coincidentally a new cur-
rency was introduced in Germany in June of 1948, and this event
forced many students to discontinue their studies, making room for
newcomers like me. On March 8, 1948, my class sat for the Abitur. 1
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was lucky 1 did not have to take the oral examination, because I already
had cleatly passing grades.

The students in my class celebrated the end of the school year and
our graduation from high school with a wild party at a restaurant. Fach
of us brought an alcoholic beverage and invited a girl. There was danc-
ing to music by Glen Miller and Louis Armstrong and a lot of drinking.
Parties like this were well known among the gitls, who were anxious
and happy to be invited. The annual parties continued for many years,
but as people moved away from Oldenburg and as they had their own
families, the enthusiasm for them slowly died out. The ftiendships
among the classmates, however, remained forever. It is quite unusual
for a class to stay so close together. After my retirement from Mayo,
when Birbel and I lived in Oldenburg during the summer months,

about eight of the original 16 classmates met every week.
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University of Kiel
The Wiabrungsreform in June of 1948 voided the Reichsmark currency
and introduced the new Deutschmark currency. The new currency had
been printed in the United States, and the date of its introduction was
kept secret and came as a surprise to most of us. On a Sunday, with
every business closed, every German regardless of age received 40
Dentschmark. The Reichsmark was no longer a valid currency, and bank
accounts denominated in Reichsmark were frozen. The change altered
life dramatically. Suddenly one could buy goods for money. The black-
matrket died. Shirking from work was over, and people looked for work
so they could buy things. Many matriculated students were unable to
finance their studies and left universities, and positions opened for new
students. One day before the Wabrungsreform, I was notified by the Uni-
versity of Kiel that I had been accepted into the dentistry program. 1
immediately traveled to Kiel with a ticket paid for in Reihsmark that
was valid until midnight, but the train did not make it all the way to
Kiel by midnight. 1 spent my first Deutschmark to purchase a ticket for
the remainder of the trip. In Kiel, I stayed with my relatives, so I had
no further expenses. The next day 1 matriculated at the university, paid
tuition for the first semester in Deutschmark, and traveled back home.
Without attending any classes, I had finished the first semester for less
than 40 Deutschmark, or 10 US dollars.

In November of 1948, I went back to Kiel for the second semes-
ter. The first thing I did was to switch from dentistry to medicine. With
the help of my uncle Louis, my father’s brother, 1 was able to rent a
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room, which I shared with a civil servant in the office of internal rev-
enue. As a student, my life changed. I was now 19 years old; I had
survived the war and the chaotic postwar times; I was a medical stu-
dent; and 1 was responsible for myself.

Many institutions and hospitals of the university and about 70%
of the buildings in Kiel had been destroyed or badly damaged during
the war. Classes of preclinical medicine were held in a former torpedo
factory. The lecture rooms were small and did not have enough seats
for all of the students, so we often had to stand during lectures. Text-
books were not available, and a library did not exist. The coutse in
medicine included daily lectures in anatomy, physiology, and biochem-
istry and two lectures per week in physics, chemistty, botany, and zo-
ology. The lectures were held by the professors, and most of them were
excellent teachers.

With the introduction of the Deutschmark, living conditions in
Germany improved steadily. Soon food was no longer rationed. In
1949, my uncle Bruno and aunt Ludmila moved to an apartment, and
they had a room for me. It was convenient and a pleasure to stay with
them. Bruno died soon after, but Ludmila and I stayed in touch until
her death. One day Ludmila tragically misunderstood a telephone mes-
sage from my cousin Ilse, who was living in Kiel. Ilse asked to speak
to Uncle Bruno, but he was not at home, so she told Ludmila that
“Uncle Max” had died. She did not explain that she was referring to
Max Stern, the foster child of Adolf Rehdet, Sr., whom Ludmila did
not know. Ludmila erroneously assumed that it was my father Max

who had died. I will let her tell the tragicomic story in her own words:

48



MY LIFE

1t bhappened on Sunday the 22. of Jannary. The day dawned as is usnal for
Sundays in Kiel, foggy and cheerless, with a suggestion of rain in the air. My hus-
band had made arrangements with a pair of his buddies, for a cross conntry tramp.
After breakfast Bruno asked me if I wonld mind taking bim and bis friends as far
as Elmschenbagen, by car. Being an obliging sonl, I promptly put on my coat and
we all went down to our garage. Sitting at the wheel I began to roll ont onr “Lonise”
to the tune of instructions from my husband, as how a car must be handled. Nothing
trvitates an experienced driver like myself, as to be told how to manipulate the gears.
I thought 1 wonld play a little joke on my lord and master, so keeping my foot on
the brafke 1 let the car roll, so that she was nearly flattened against the wall, and at
the crucial moment 1 stopped the car. This must have had a beneficial effect on
Bruno, for henceforth he became very meek and never once addressed me for the
length of the trip. Having deposited the passengers at a god forsaken spot I started
homeward. The visibility was not too good, it started to drigzle. I took it easy,
driving slowly when I heard some car behind, honking furiously, wishing to overtake
me. Politely I side stepped with “Lonise’ to let the impatient gentleman in the black
coupe pass me and saw him again five minntes later with a crowd around bis car
and a body underneath a twisted bicycle draped gracefully the car wheels. One look
was all that I conld endure being averse to parting so violently with my special
Sunday breakfast of ham and eggs, I ducked back into the car and proceeded at a
pace that any self-respecting snail could have overtaken me.

The news of the accident was in the papers the nexct day. Arriving home with
a sigh of relief, 1 related my gruesome excperience to my children, Vicky and Rudoll,
my nephew Kai and his friend Ernst. Kai studies medicine in Kiel, his parents live
in Oldenburg i. O. where his father has his practice being a dental surgeon. Max:
is the youngest brother of my husband. Ernst is also from the same town and is
ambitious to specialize himself in tropical diseases. 1 eaving the youngsters to amuse
themselves 1 removed myself to the kitchen fo prepare the midday meal. The radio
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was going fitll blast and at short intervals I conld hear the roar of langhter. Hearing
langhter in the house put me always in a pleasant frame of mind. 1 was just medi-
ating how nice it is to be young and carefree, when one can laugh at the flattest of
Jokes, when the phone rang. On the other end of the line was Iise, the danghter of
my husband’s other brother Louis, who resides in Kiel. Iise sounded a bit excited,
she said she had unpleasant news, they received a telegram stating that Uncle Max
is dead and the funeral takes place within three days. 1 asked how be died so sud-
denly. lise did not know, was it sickness or a heart attack, the telegram was short.
I inquired if they were going to the funeral, to which I received a negative answer.
Thanking lise for calling me up, I just stood there holding on to the telephone and
listening to the talk and langhter of my kids, and the melody of the Blue Dannbe
walty which came floating over the radio. Who was going to bring the news to Kai,
I conld not bring myself to face him and say that bis father is dead. On the other
band, I conld not wait until Bruno came back as obvionsly Kai’s place is by bis
mother’s side, and the only train to Bremen was leaving in an hour’s tinse. Beckon-
ing Fornst ont into the kitchen I told him the message I received. He was shocked
and turned quite green but agreed with me that Kai must go home immediately.
Loathing the task before him Ernst went to Kat and delivered the sad news. A
couple minutes later I went in to console Kai and shocked 1o see how badly be was
hit. He just went to pieces, Kai and bis father were great friends, more like brothers
than parent and son. 1 spoke a few words of sympathy to Kai but he just stared at
mie vacantly. In this condition the boy conld not travel alone, so I decided to accom-
pany him. Changing quickly, we had just enough time 1o catch the Bremen express.
Ernst took us to the station, I requested him to stay at onr place and let my husband
know what had happened as soon as he came back from his walk. That it wounld
be a blow for Bruno, 1 knew my husband.

The trip to Oldenburg was anful, it was something I will not forget in a hurry

and wonld not want to go throngh again. It seemed endless, just sitting there in the
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wagon watching Kai was decidedly unnerving. He sat with bis head in his hands
and never said a word during the whole trip. Six hours can drag on for ages, espe-
cially, when thoughts are morbid and numerons. Kai's future was battering me,
naturally he wonld have to give up his studies and start providing means of livelihood
Jfor bimself and his mother, and twenty-one is a tender age for such responsibilities.
The last lap of the journey was the worse.

In Bremen we had to change trains. The Oldenburg train was a contraption
to run the nerves, it rattled for five minutes and stopped for ten. It was nine o’clock
when at last we arrived in Oldenburg. I looked aronnd for a florist to buy a wreath
or some flowers but seeing none decided that tomorvow will have to do. Walking the
short distance to the house our feet dragged and the nearer we came the siower we
walked. Arriving at the house, I braced myself for a shock and Kai rang the bell.
I got a shock alright but not the one I excpected.

The door opened. I took one step forward and froge. There standing in front
of me, with a devilish grin on his face was the corpse bimself, onr uncle Max, very
much alive and kicking. I glanced at Kai, but he turned into a pillar of salt and
suddenly feeling weak around the knees 1 leaned against the wall. Was it halluci-
nation or did 1 go cragy, no coberent thought seemed to exist in my brain. How long
Kai and 1 stood there like stone images 1 do not kenow, but bis parents seemed to
enjoy the sight, for they were langhing and dancing aronnd us. Gradually we became
alive and asked in no dulcet tones for the meaning of this joke. Having amused
themselves to their heart’s content, Max: and Rosa condescended to explain the mis-
understanding. In the meantime, my husband had phoned Rosa to offer his condo-
lences and to inform her that Kai and 1 were on our way. This dialogue on the long
distance would have given me a lot of amusement were 1 present. Rosa could not
martke ont what my husband was talking about after innumerable who, what and
when's. Bruno lost his patience and shouted” Your husband, my brother, Kai'’s

father is dead, do you hear me, dead”. “No” Rosa answered “he went to a soccer
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game”. Then suddenly she became nervous, time enough, he went to a soccer game,
but that was two and a half hours ago, a lot can happen in a shorter space of time.
She was a relieved woman when she saw Mas: coming in five minutes later and
promptly informed him that he was a corpse. Looking dumbfounded Max felt
Rosa’s pulse to see if she was in a fever, while Rosa poured out the tale of his demise.
Without loss of time Louis was got on the phone and the truth came to light. In
Sweden there lived a distant cousin of the family, in deference to his advanced age
and white hair he was called nncle Mas. 1t is time that I met the courteous old
gentleman with a sense of bumor, soon after we returned to Germany, when be was
on a visit in Kiel. But with my apologies to this departed Soul, 1 forgot abont his
existence, having seen him only once in my life, and it never ocenrred to me once that
se had referred to this other uncle Max.

Oldenburyg is an old fashioned small provincial town where the people live in
Zlass honses. Max: being quite well known, such unusual occurrence as baving a
living corpse amongst them, spread around town like wildfire. It did not take long
before the doorbell started ringing and in came an old friend of the family with a top
hat, black tie and an X 'mas wreath. He wanted to have a drink with the corpse.
During the afternoon when we were still in the train, Max wanting to spare Kai's
and mine feelings and being under the impression that we were travelling by car, put
the police force on their feet, with instructions to stop a sky-biue Ford car and to
inform the occupants that a misunderstanding had occurred. On the other hand, my
husband was sending telegrams to all stations where the train stopped. Unfortu-
nately, none of the messages reached us or we were too engrossed in our own thoughts
to pay much attention what was going on around us. The Monday in Oldenburg
was bectic. Max had more patients than he could cope with. If the doorbell was not
ringing then surely the phone rang. It was early in the morning, that eventually I
went to bed, with my mind firmly made up to make my tracks home the next day.
I even gave up the idea to break my journey in Hamburg for a show. Having had
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next to no sleep for the last two nights and plenty of excitement 1 thought it high
time to come back to the serenity of my home, my loving husband and my children.

Accordingly, Kai and I arrived the next day in Kiel to find ourselves objects
of discussions among onr friends and acquaintances.”

During the two years 1 was in Kiel, I frequently visited my uncle
Louis, aunt Grete, and cousin Ilse at their house in Lerchenstrase 17.
We had dinner together and played cards. After five semesters I was
qualified for the preclinical examination, the Physikum. At German uni-
vetsities there are no examinations duting the first five semestets. Stu-
dent attendance at lectures is not monitored; students are assumed to
be mature and responsible enough to attend. They are also expected to
attend lectures in other specialties. The Physikum consists of oral ex-
aminations in anatomy, histology, embryology, physiology, biochemis-
try, zoology, botany, chemistry, and physics. Examinations ate spread
out over several weeks, with about two examinations per week for each
candidate. They are given by the professors and last an average of 30
minutes for each student. Male and female students wear formal suits

for them.

University of Freiburg

It is not unusual for students in Germany to transfer from one univer-
sity to another, henceforth having the benefit of lectures from other
professors. After passing the Physikum in Kiel, I matriculated at the
University of Freiburg in the Black Forest for the clinical section,
which lasted for six semesters. I studied for five semesters in F'reiburg
and one in Innsbruck, Austria. In Freiburg I particularly liked classes
in internal medicine, presented by Professor Heilmeyer, a hematolo-
gist. He emphasized the relevant pathologic physiology of diseases and
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tried to teach students to think and understand rather than just mem-
orize. Also, lectures in surgery and the specialty of ear, nose, and throat

were of great interest to me.

-'-‘ Hiking in the
 * Black Forest

My favorite
Dpicture of Bdrbel
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Two of my former classmates from high school, Hans Rau and
Ernst Ammermann, joined me in Freiburg. 1 had been together with
Ernst in Kiel, but I had not been particulatly close with Hans before.
There were also three gitls in Freiburg who we knew from Oldenburg.
They were Ruth Liibbers, who studied histoty and anglistics. She suf-
fered from anorexia nervosa and was not interested in taking part in
any extracurricular activities with us. The other two girls were Hille
Dettmers and Bérbel Reiners. They were friends; both studied physical
medicine at the university, and they roomed together. Hille was physi-
cally disabled because of an accident; she had crossed a street without
looking and was hit by a truck. Unfortunately, her injured leg never
healed properly and left her with a permanent limp. The disability did
not prevent Hille from joining us in whatever we did except for biking
and hiking. Birbel, the same age as Hille, also participated in many of
our extracurricular activities, including drinking wine, biking, and hik-
ing. Barbel and I liked to hike in the Black Forest. We had a very good
time together.

By 1950, living conditions in Germany had greatly improved. Life
was approaching normal. The reconstruction of damaged houses had
just begun, however, it was still very difficult to find a room to rent. It
was at this time that Birbel came to Freiburg to look for a place to rent
for herself and her friend Hille. During her visit, I met her at Ruth’s
place. I asked Birbel to join me on a bike trip to the beautiful wine
country, Markgréflerland, about 25 km south of Freiburg. She accepted.
The sun was shining, and it was a beautiful crisp spring day. We
stopped at Staufen, a small city known for its food, wine, and a ruin of

a castle destroyed by the Swedes during the Thirty Years War. We
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biked slowly and comfortably through the vineyards and enjoyed out-
selves. On this outing, Birbel and I got to know each other, and our
relationship began to develop. It
continued to grow and ultimately
ended in marriage. We have
many common interests, and we
both enjoy physical activities
such as biking, hiking, skiing, and
swimming. It feels as if a magnet
is pulling and keeping us to-
gether. ‘
Hans, Hille, Birbel, and I
enjoyed our freedom in Freiburg.
We had no worties. We met of-
ten at Oberkirch’s Weinstuben

on the market square in the cen-

Freiburger Miinster

ter of Freiburg and at the foot of
the beautiful gothic Freiburger
Minster. Oberkirch’s Weinstuben was only one of a few houses on the
market square surrounding the Freiburger Miinster, which had been
spared from destruction by bombs. Drinking wine was new to us
northern Germans, whose favorite drink had always been beer. The
wine in Freiburg was excellent and reasonably priced, so we students
could affotd it.

My friend Hans and I hitchhiked from Freiburg to Patis and back.
When we first arrived in Paris, we tented a cheap hotel room and then
set off to explore. We walked the Champs Elysée from the Place de la
Concotrde to the Arc de Triomphe. We admired the Eiffel Tower. We
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visited one of the historic landmarks of Paris, the Musée du Louvre. It
is so big that all I remember is the Mona Lisa by Leonardo da Vinci and

some pictures by Rembrandt and Ru- W
. Ean. ¥ .

bens. 1 was most impressed by the o

Musée Jeu de Paume, with many ex- . & R

quisite pictures by Cezanne, van Gogh,

Renoir, Degas, Monet, Manet, and
Gauguin. It was an unbelievable collec-
tion of art, and what a fantastic experi-
ence for a young man!

We went to Versailles and were
awed by the Hall of Mitrors. Bismarck
chose the Hall of Mirrors as the site for
declaring the King of Prussia, Wilhelm
I, Emperor of Germany after the defeat

Skiing in Austria as a medi-
cal student

of France in the Franco-Prussian War of

1870—1871. The choice was an act of revenge on the part of Bismarck
because the pictures on the hall’s ceiling and walls depict the conquest
of German territory by France. In 1919, as an act of re-revenge, the
French Prime Minister Clemenceau chose the Hall of Mitrors as the
site for dismantling the German Empire. It was also the spot where
Germany had signed the Versailles Peace Treaty in 1919. What an his-
toric place.

In the evenings we enjoyed spending time at the Café du Dome
in Montparnasse, sipping coffee and watching people. When Hans and
I returned to Freiburg, we both had lost many pounds, but we had seen
and learned a lot, admittedly a lot unrelated to medicine. In my opin-
ion, students should use opportunities to widen their horizons; they do
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not need a lot of money to do this. Seeing other countries, heating
people converse in foreign languages, and seeing people happy or un-
happy all contribute to forming and developing a young person’s char-
acter. Do not spend all your time prepating for a profession. Universitas
means the whole world or universe. At a university one can study the
whole universe. Sure, we could have learned more about medicine by
attending all of our classes, but there was still a lot of time left for this.

Our parents, being academicians, understood this and supported us.

Painters by the Seine

University of Innsbruck

In 1951, Hans Rau and I both matriculated at the University of Inns-
bruck in Austria. We chose Innsbruck because we wanted to bike from
there to Italy. We arrived early and purchased the necessary equipment

for the trip, including a U.S. army tent where we slept.
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View from Notre Dame

We had little money but lots of enthusiasm for our trip. We saw
beautiful landscapes, met many interesting Italians, learned about Ro-
man history, admired many churches, including St. Peter’s in Rome,
visited the Vatican, and learned to speak some Italian. We enjoyed the
beauty of Lake Como and were amazed by Venice, with its unique ca-
nals and gondolas. The great art museums and their treasures in Flor-
ence and Rome were fantastic and were worth the trip by bike of more
than 1,000 miles. We biked to the papal palace in Castel Gandolfo and
saw the pope. One of many highlights was the breathtaking beauty of
the island of Capti, sutrounded by the unbelievably blue Mediterranean
Sea. We enjoyed ourselves so much and were so fascinated by the
country and all we saw and learned that we forgot that our budget was
limited. We ran out of money and had to telegraph our parents for
financial help. Thank God they understood and helped us.
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Biking in Italy. Mount VVesuvius is in the background.

We returned to Innsbruck in time for the winter semester. Chang-
ing universities provides the advantage of different teachers. In Inns-
bruck, classes in pharmacology and surgery were the most interesting
ones, and we attended them regularly. The pharmacologist was the fa-
mous Professor Jarisch, who identified the Jarisch-Bezold reflex, a
triad of hypotension, bradycardia, and vasodilatation. Jatisch, a scien-
tist, had the rare talent of involving students in his thinking. Another
teacher, Burkhard Breitner, a surgeon, had been an actor before he
switched to medicine, and it showed. His lectures were exciting.

Innsbruck is surrounded by the high mountains of the Alps, which
offer unique skiing facilities (the Winter Olympic Games were held in
Innsbruck in 1964). We did not ski a lot, because the terrain was too
difficult for us beginners. While skiing down the Hafelekar Mountain
to Innsbruck, Hans fell and broke his tibia. He decided to retutn to
Oldenburg and asked me to get the professors to sign his Studienbuch,
which would prove that he had attended all of his mandatory classes.

This is necessary for acceptance to take the State Board Examination.
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1 lost Hans’s Studienbuch. When he applied in Innsbruck for a copy, he
was turned down and advised that a copy could only be issued with
permission from the dean. Unfortunately, the dean had transferred to
Vienna. To get his permission, Hans and I biked from Freiburg to Vi-
enna and begged the dean to issue a copy of the Studienbuch. We were

successful and returned in great spirits to Freiburg,

Return to University of Freiburg

After returning from Innsbruck to Freiburg, I had about a year left to
prepare for the State Board Examination. I studied all day, leaving little
time for extracurricular activities. By this time, Bérbel and 1 had been
together for about 1%2 years. Whenever her schedule allowed, she vis-
ited me and read while lying quietly on the couch while I was studying.
Like the Physiknm, the State Board Examination is an oral examination.
Groups of four students are examined together for two hours. Female
and male students wear formal suits for every examination. The oral
examinations are spread out over a period of about two months, which
means one has about one to two examinations per week.

Unlike in many other countries, in Germany one must submit a
thesis to obtain an MD degree. The subject can be either a laboratory
study or a review of the literature on a certain subject; this usually takes
about a half year. I worked in the hematology laboratory of the Uni-
versity Pediatric Hospital, and my sponsor was Professor Betke. The
subject of my thesis was the osmotic resistance of erythrocytes. The
results were published in a peer-reviewed journal. Theoretically, the
MD thesis prepares a student for the critical study of a circumscribed
project. It does not actually accomplish this goal, however, because
most of the time there is little to no supervision or guidance.
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While 1 was working in the laboratory one day, I heard a lot of
commotion in the laboratory next door. Female medical technicians
were laughing loudly and applauding and there was a lot of talking, 1
was unable to understand the subject of the discussion and decided to
investigate.

A former student who had worked on his MD thesis in the labor-
atory had returned from a trip to the United States. He had worked in
New Jersey as an intern and was reporting on his experiences. He told
me that Dr. Read, a radiologist from Ventnor City, New Jersey, was
offering a program allowing young German physicians to work for one
year as interns in the United States. Dr. Read would even pay for a
round-trip passage on the Holland-America Line. I was interested and
inquired about how to apply for this program. The young doctor told
me how to check with the dean’s office to get application forms and
submit them to Dr. Read. Not believing I would have even a ghost of
a chance, 1 applied and then forgot about it. I was flabbergasted when
I found out a few months later that I had been accepted. 1 was assigned
to the Jeanes Hospital in Philadelphia.

Birbel was not very enthused when I told her that I would soon
be leaving to spend one year in the United States as an intern. We both
agreed, however, that it was not a bad idea to separate for a year in
order to test the sincerity of our relationship. I was particularly inter-
ested in doing this because in my parents’ marriage, problems had de-
veloped during the long absence of my father during the wat.

The time as a2 medical student in Freiburg was probably one of the
better times of my life. It was peacetime and I was taking interesting
classes, had no worries, knew nice gitls, had a good ftiend, and could
travel. What else does one need? We were lucky that our parents wete
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able to support us generously. We saw a lot of the most beautiful sur-
roundings of Freiburg, skied in the Black Forest, and enjoyed many
interesting classes. We had no interest in any kind of national or inter-

national politics.
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Intern, Jeanes Hospital,
1954-1955

The Read Program

1 began my training as an intern at the University Pediatric Hospital in
Freiburg, and this allowed me to complete the thesis for my MD in my
spare time. Unfortunately, this was a waste of time, and I learned noth-
ing. Nobody demonstrated anything or explained anything. All I was
asked to do was to test patients’ urine in the ward. Interns did this
laboratoty wotk because they made less money than medical techni-
cians; it was a good deal for the hospital but a bad one for interns, 1
continued to need financial support from home even though I worked
full time. I finished the MD thesis on the osmotic resistance of eryth-
rocytes. The other good outcome was that 1 learned about and was
accepted by the Read Program.

I resigned from the Freiburg internship program early and pre-
pated for the trip to the United States. Dr. Read made all the arrange-
ments, including booking passage on the Maasdam, a 10,000-ton ship,
for the 10-day trip. Birbel accompanied me to Rotterdam, where 1 was
to board. The weather was perfect as the ship crossed the Atlantic, and
I met lots of interesting people on boatd. I had fun on the trip and was
awed by the luxutiousness of the dining hall and the outstanding food.

We docked in Hoboken, New Jersey. After passing through cus-
toms, I was met by Dr. Helmut Tauber, a German intern with the Read
Program working at the Jeanes Hospital. He drove an old green
Dodge, and I had my first big surprise when 1 learned he owned the

car. He predicted that I would soon own a used car, too. In Germany,
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